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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.  Financial Statements

AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

            
     June 30,  December 31,
     2003  2002

      
Assets         
Current assets:         
  Cash and cash equivalents  $ 90,719  $ 111,262 

  
Marketable securities (including restricted securities of $630 and $3,161 at June 30, 2003

and December 31, 2002, respectively)   1,608   3,664 

  
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,396 and $1,939 at

June 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively   22,004   16,290 
  Due from related parties (Note 10)   —   1,284 
  Prepaid expenses and other current assets   9,284   9,183 
         
   Total current assets   123,615   141,683 
Property and equipment, net   38,143   63,159 
Restricted marketable securities   4,018   10,244 
Goodwill   4,937   4,937 
Other intangible assets, net (Note 9)   263   2,473 
Other assets   6,045   7,367 
         
   Total assets  $177,021  $229,863 
         
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit         
Current liabilities:         
  Accounts payable  $ 13,630  $ 16,847 
  Accrued expenses (Note 7)   30,339   37,062 
  Deferred revenue   2,424   2,361 
  Current portion of obligations under capital leases and vendor financing   1,054   1,207 
  Current portion of accrued restructuring (Note 8)   4,598   23,622 
         
   Total current liabilities   52,045   81,099 
Obligations under capital leases and vendor financing, net of current portion   —   1,006 
Accrued restructuring, net of current portion (Note 8)   4,440   13,994 
Other liabilities   1,284   1,854 
Convertible notes   300,000   300,000 
         
   Total liabilities   357,769   397,953 
         
Commitments, contingencies and guarantees (Note 12)         
Stockholders’ deficit:         

  
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or

outstanding at June 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002   —   — 

3



Table of Contents

            
     June 30,  December 31,
     2003  2002

      

  

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 700,000,000 shares authorized;
118,820,295 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2003;
117,660,254 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002   1,188   1,177 

  Additional paid-in capital   3,429,730   3,428,434 
  Deferred compensation   (4,233)   (9,895)
  Notes receivable for stock (Note 13)   (764)   (3,473)
  Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   939   (18)
  Accumulated deficit   (3,607,608)   (3,584,315)
         
   Total stockholders’ deficit   (180,748)   (168,090)
         
   Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit  $ 177,021  $ 229,863 
         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

                   
    For the Three Months  For the Six Months
    Ended June 30,  Ended June 30,

     
    2003  2002  2003  2002

       
Revenue:                 
 Service  $ 36,882  $ 31,251  $ 72,439  $ 66,168 
 License and other   814   2,517   1,747   2,981 
 Service and license from related parties (Note 10)   63   2,554   137   5,100 
              
  Total revenue   37,759   36,322   74,323   74,249 
              
Cost and operating expenses:                 
 Cost of revenue   15,832   22,966   33,717   46,277 
 Research and development   2,816   5,209   6,288   11,597 
 Sales and marketing   12,049   16,619   23,138   33,631 
 General and administrative   16,006   26,322   32,077   50,925 
 Amortization of other intangible assets (Note 9)   12   2,231   2,210   7,468 
 Restructuring charges (Note 8)   1,299   602   (8,521)   13,011 
              
  Total cost and operating expenses   48,014   73,949   88,909   162,909 
              
Loss from operations   (10,255)   (37,627)   (14,586)   (88,660)
Interest expense, net   (4,268)   (3,733)   (8,496)   (7,307)
Loss on investments   —   (759)   (15)   (5,087)
              
Loss before provision for income taxes   (14,523)   (42,119)   (23,097)   (101,054)
Provision for income taxes   123   123   196   246 
              
  Net loss  $ (14,646)  $ (42,242)  $ (23,293)  $(101,300)
              
Basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (0.13)  $ (0.38)  $ (0.20)  $ (0.91)
Weighted average common shares outstanding   117,109   112,253   116,754   110,973 
              

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

             
      For the Six Months
      Ended June 30,

      
      2003  2002

       
Cash flows from operating activities:         
  Net loss  $ (23,293)  $(101,300)
  Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         
   Depreciation, amortization and impairment of long-lived assets   31,536   51,263 
   Equity-related compensation   6,239   11,017 
   Interest income on notes receivable for stock   (66)   (64)
   Non-cash portion of restructuring charge   144   602 
   Loss on investments, property and equipment and foreign currency   (260)   5,528 
   Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
    Accounts receivable, net   (4,046)   3,141 
    Prepaid expenses and other current assets   1,936   470 
    Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (10,200)   (10,678)
    Deferred revenue   (37)   (734)
    Other noncurrent assets and liabilities   (28,895)   (3,225)
         
  Net cash used in operating activities   (26,942)   (43,980)
         
Cash flows from investing activities:         
   Purchases of property and equipment and additions to internal-use software   (4,059)   (6,454)
   Purchase of investments   —   (24,551)
   Proceeds from sales of property and equipment   86   221 
   Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments   8,757   83,138 
         
  Net cash provided by investing activities   4,784   52,354 
         
Cash flows from financing activities:         
   Payments on capital leases and vendor financing   (1,159)   (851)

   
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock under stock option and employee stock purchase

plans   1,735   1,623 
         
  Net cash provided by financing activities   576   772 
         
Effects of exchange rate translation on cash and cash equivalents   1,039   221 
         
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (20,543)   9,367 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   111,262   78,774 
         
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 90,719  $ 88,141 
         
Supplemental disclosure of cash flows information:         
 Cash paid for interest  $ 8,372  $ 8,292 
         
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities:         
 Assets acquired under capital lease obligations and vendor financing  $ —  $ 3,214 
         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.     Nature of Business, Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation:

     Akamai Technologies, Inc. (“Akamai” or the “Company”) provides services and software that are designed to enable enterprises to extend and control their e-
business infrastructure while ensuring superior performance, reliability, scalability and manageability. Akamai’s globally distributed platform comprises more
than 14,000 servers in more than 1,100 networks in 70 countries. The Company was incorporated in Delaware in 1998 and is headquartered in Cambridge,
Massachusetts. Akamai currently operates in one business segment: providing e-business infrastructure services and software.

     The accompanying interim condensed consolidated financial statements, together with the related notes, are unaudited and reflect all adjustments, consisting
only of normal recurring adjustments, that in the opinion of management are necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s financial position, results of
operations and cash flows as of the dates and for the periods presented. The interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for interim financial information. Consequently, these interim financial
statements do not include all disclosures normally required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for annual audited
financial statements. Accordingly, reference should be made to the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 for additional
disclosures filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Results of the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results for the entire year.

     The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Akamai and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant inter-company transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain reclassifications of prior year amounts have been made to conform with current year presentation.

2.     Recent Accounting Pronouncements:

     In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (the “EITF”) reached a consensus on Issue 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.”
EITF 00-21 addresses revenue recognition for revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables. The deliverables in these revenue arrangements should be
divided into separate units of accounting when the individual deliverables have value to the customer on a stand-alone basis; there is objective and reliable
evidence of the fair value of the undelivered elements; and, if the arrangement includes a general right to return the delivered element, delivery or performance of
the undelivered element is considered probable. The relative fair value of each unit should be determined, and the total consideration of the arrangement should
be allocated, among the individual units based on their relative fair value. The guidance in this issue is effective for revenue arrangements entered into by the
Company after June 30, 2003. The Company does not expect that the adoption of EITF 00-21 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

     In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Interpretation 46, or FIN 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - An
Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51.” FIN 46 addresses consolidation of variable interest entities where the equity investment at risk is not
sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties and the equity investors lack one or
more essential characteristics of a controlling financial interest. FIN 46 applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003, and to
variable interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. It applies in the first fiscal year or interim period beginning after June 15, 2003,
to variable interest
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entities in which an enterprise holds a variable interest that it acquired before February 1, 2003. The Company is not currently an investor in any variable interest
entities.

     In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS No. 150 clarifies the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of debt that, under
previous guidance, issuers could account for as equity. SFAS No. 150 requires that those instruments be classified as liabilities in statements of financial position.
SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective July 1, 2003. The adoption of the
SFAS No. 150 did not impact the Company’s financial statements.

3.     Equity-Related Compensation:

     In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of SFAS No.
123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123 to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the
fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123
to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the
effect of the method used on reported results.

     Akamai accounts for stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method as prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No.
25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations. Accordingly, no compensation expense is recorded for stock-based awards issued to
employees in fixed amounts and with fixed exercise prices at least equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant. Akamai
applies the provisions of SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, through disclosure only for stock-based awards issued to employees. All stock-based
awards to non-employees are accounted for at their fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 123.

     The following table illustrates the effect on net loss and net loss per share if the Company had accounted for stock options issued to employees under the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 (in thousands, except per share data):

                   
    For the Three Months Ended  For the Six Months Ended
    June 30,  June 30,

     
    2003  2002  2003  2002

       
Net loss, as reported  $(14,646)  $(42,242)  $(23,293)  $(101,300)

  
Stock-based employee compensation

included in reported net loss   2,036   4,662   5,000   10,998 

  

Stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under fair value
method for all awards   (9,773)   (12,565)   (21,905)   (26,456)

             
Pro forma net loss  $(22,383)  $(50,145)  $(40,198)  $(116,758)
             
Basic and diluted net loss per share:                 
 As reported  $ (0.13)  $ (0.38)  $ (0.20)  $ (0.91)
 Pro forma  $ (0.19)  $ (0.45)  $ (0.34)  $ (1.05)
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4.     Net Loss per Share:

     Basic net loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted net loss per share is computed
using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year, plus the dilutive effect of potential common stock. Potential common stock
consists of stock options, warrants, unvested restricted common stock, contingently issuable common stock and convertible notes.

     The following table sets forth the components of potential common stock excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share because their inclusion
would be antidilutive:

         
  As of June 30,

  
  2003  2002

   
Stock options   15,365,650   15,927,248 
Warrants   1,039,387   1,052,694 
Unvested restricted common stock   770,107   2,672,695 
Contingently issuable stock   —   7,692,308 
Convertible notes   2,598,077   2,598,077 

     On July 10, 2003, warrants were exercised to purchase 492,736 shares of common stock. In lieu of the exercise price of these warrants, the warrant holder
surrendered 441,932 additional warrants to Akamai as consideration.

5.     Comprehensive Loss:

     The following table presents the calculation of comprehensive loss and its components for the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2003 and 2002 (in
thousands):

                  
   For the Three Months Ended  For the Six Months Ended
   June 30,  June 30,

    
   2003  2002  2003  2002

      
Net loss  $(14,646)  $(42,242)  $(23,293)  $(101,300)
Other comprehensive income (loss):                 
 Foreign currency translation adjustment   374   269   485   281 
 Unrealized gain (loss) on investments   502   (237)   472   (334)

 
Reclassification adjustment for investment

losses included in net loss   —   297   —   103 
             
Comprehensive loss  $(13,770)  $(41,913)  $(22,336)  $(101,250)
             

     For the periods presented, accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of (in thousands):

          
   As of June 30,  As of December 31,
   2003  2002

    
Foreign currency translation adjustment  $ 517  $ 32 
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments   422   (50)
       
 Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  $ 939  $ (18)
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6.     Asset Retirement Obligation:

     In January 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS No. 143 addresses the accounting and reporting
requirements for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets. As a result of adopting this statement, the Company recorded an asset
retirement obligation and associated long-lived asset of $109,000 as of January 1, 2003 for the fair value of a contractual obligation to remove leasehold
improvements at the conclusion of the Company’s facility lease in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The obligation and asset are classified on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2003 as non-current liabilities and property and equipment, respectively. The Company will amortize the asset and
accrete the obligation over the remaining life of the associated leasehold improvements.

7.     Accrued Expenses:

     Accrued expenses consists of the following (in thousands):

         
  As of June 30,  As of December 31,
  2003  2002

   
Payroll and benefits  $ 6,838  $ 7,957 
Interest   8,250   8,250 
Legal settlements   —   6,264 
Property, use and other taxes   12,503   11,740 
Other   2,748   2,851 
       
Total  $30,339  $37,062 
       

8.     Restructurings and Lease Terminations:

     During the second quarter of 2003, the Company completed the following transactions related to long-term facility leases:

     (a)   The Company amended its lease obligation for a facility in Santa Clara, California. Under the terms of the amendment, the Company made a payment of
$9.4 million, which included $600,000 for brokerage fees. The total payment included the release of $5.7 million in restricted cash. The Company will continue to
pay rent at the previously contracted rate through the end of 2003. Thereafter, rent will be reduced to a lower rate more aligned with market rates in the area. The
amended lease is scheduled to terminate in August 2007. As of June 30, 2003, the remaining restructuring liability related to this facility was $8.3 million, against
which the remaining rent payments will be applied. The Company has substantially vacated this area and is actively seeking a subtenant for this space. The
Company has estimated no sublease income for this facility due to the market conditions in the area.

     (b)   The Company terminated its long-term lease for its San Mateo, California facility for a payment of $6.0 million and entered into a new lease for the
facility. Of such $6.0 million payment, $1.1 million has been recorded as a prepayment for the remaining utilized space and is being amortized over the remaining
term of the lease. The Company had previously accrued a restructuring liability for the vacant portion of the original lease. The new lease is scheduled to expire
in May 2008. Rent payments under the new lease are lower than under the original lease, more in line with market rates, and the amount of leased space has been
reduced by more than 60%.

     (c)   In May 2003, the Company terminated its lease for a facility located in the United Kingdom for a fee of approximately $700,000. In connection with this
lease termination, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of $1.1 million for costs related to the termination fee, the write-off of long-lived assets and long-
term deposits. The Company has relocated its operations in Europe to a smaller facility.
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As a result of the amendments to or terminations of the above long-term leases, the Company reversed $9.5 million in previously accrued restructuring liabilities
for the six months ended June 30, 2003 and made a total of $16.1 million in cash payments to complete the transactions.

     The following table summarizes the accrual and usage of the restructuring charges in 2003 (in millions):

              
   Leases  Severance  Total

     
Ending balance, December 31, 2002  $ 37.5  $ 0.1  $ 37.6 

 

Total restructuring benefits during the six months ended June 30,
2003 (includes the reversal of $9.5 million of previously
accrued restructuring liabilities)   (8.4)   (0.1)   (8.5)

 Cash payments during the six months ended June 30, 2003   (20.1)   —   (20.1)
          
Ending balance, June 30, 2003  $ 9.0  $ —  $ 9.0 
Current portion of accrued restructuring  $ 4.6     $ 4.6 
           
Long-term portion of accrued restructuring  $ 4.4      $ 4.4 
           

     The amount of restructuring liabilities associated with facility leases has been estimated based on the most recent available market data and discussions with
the Company’s lessors and real estate advisors. In the event the Company is able to sublease restructured space at amounts that are higher than previously
anticipated, the Company will record an adjustment to the restructuring liability in the period in which the adjustment becomes probable and estimable.

9.     Other Intangible Assets:

     Other intangible assets subject to amortization consist of the following (in thousands):

              
   June 30, 2003

   
   Gross Carrying  Accumulated  Net Carrying
   Amount  Amortization  Amount

     
Completed technology  $26,769  $(26,769)  $ — 
Trademarks and trade names   4,527   (4,527)   — 
Acquired license rights   490   (227)   263 
          
 Total  $31,786  $(31,523)  $263 
          
              
   December 31, 2002

   
   Gross Carrying  Accumulated  Net Carrying
   Amount  Amortization  Amount

     
Completed technology  $26,769  $(24,890)  $1,879 
Trademarks and trade names   4,527   (4,220)   307 
Acquired license rights   490   (203)   287 
          
 Total  $31,786  $(29,313)  $2,473 
          

     Amortization expense for other intangible assets was $12,000 and $2.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and $2.2 and
$7.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Amortization expense is expected to be $25,000 for the remainder of 2003 and
$50,000 in each year thereafter through 2008.
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10.     Transactions with Related Parties:

     During the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2003 and 2002, the Company recognized revenue from the following related parties as follows (in
thousands):

                 
  For the Three Months  For the Six Months
  Ended June 30,  Ended June 30,

   
  2003  2002  2003  2002

     
Akamai Australia  $63  $ —  $137  $ — 
Akamai Technologies Japan K.K. and

Softbank Broadmedia Corporation
(“SBBM”)   —   2,302   —   4,600 

Sockeye Networks, Inc.   —   252   —   500 
             
Total  $63  $2,554  $137  $5,100 
             

     The Company formed Akamai Australia in August 2002 as a joint venture with ES Group Ventures Pty Ltd (“ES Ventures”). The Company owned 40% of
Akamai Australia and accounted for its investment under the equity method. No losses of the joint venture were recognized because Akamai’s basis in its
investment in Akamai Australia was zero. Upon inception of the joint venture, the Company entered into a five-year distribution agreement with Akamai
Australia under which Akamai Australia was required to make quarterly payments to the Company in accordance with minimum resale commitments. As of
June 30, 2003, no amounts were due from Akamai Australia.

     In June 2003, Akamai and ES Ventures terminated the joint venture. In accordance with the termination agreement, Akamai removed its representatives from
the joint venture’s board of directors and surrendered its 40% interest in the entity. ES Ventures agreed to wind down the affairs of the joint venture and will be
responsible for settling all of the joint venture’s obligations. The distribution agreement was terminated, and Akamai forgave all amounts due under the
agreement. To date, revenue has been recognized under the distribution agreement only to the extent of the cash received from the joint venture. Akamai
purchased all customer contracts from the former joint venture for a fee of $472,000 and will continue to service these customers. The fee has been recorded as an
asset and will be amortized against the future revenue of these customers.

     In December 2002, Akamai sold its 40% equity interest in Akamai Technologies Japan K.K., formerly a joint venture between Akamai and SBBM. For the
three and six months ended June 30, 2002, the Company recognized $1.1 million and $2.2 million, respectively, under a reseller agreement with Akamai
Technologies Japan K.K. Akamai also recognized $1.2 million and $2.4 million under a technology license agreement with SBBM during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2002, respectively, which was considered a related party at the time the revenue was recognized due to SBBM’s relationship with Akamai
Technologies Japan K.K. In January 2003, Akamai formed a wholly-owned subsidiary in Japan through which it will sell its services and support its reseller
relationships. As of December 31, 2002, $1.1 million was due from Akamai Technologies Japan K.K. and is included in due from related parties on the
consolidated balance sheet. This amount was paid in January 2003.

     The Company previously held a 40% equity interest in Sockeye Networks, Inc. In November 2002, the Company significantly reduced its equity interest in
Sockeye and, as of June 30, 2003, Akamai’s management does not have a position on Sockeye’s board of directors. The Company currently accounts for this
investment under the cost method due to the significant reduction in ownership interest. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2002, the Company
recognized $252,000 and $500,000, respectively, of revenue from Sockeye under a quarterly service agreement. This agreement was cancelled in the fourth
quarter of 2002.
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11.     Segment Disclosure:

     The Company deploys its servers into networks worldwide. As of June 30, 2003, the Company had approximately $31.3 million and $6.8 million of property
and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, located in the United States and foreign locations, respectively. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had
approximately $49.5 million and $13.7 million of property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, located in the United States and foreign locations,
respectively. Akamai sells its services through a direct and indirect sales force located both domestically and abroad. For both the three and six months ended
June 30, 2003, approximately 15% of revenue was derived from the Company’s operations outside the United States of America. For both the three and six
months ended June 30, 2002, approximately 13% of revenue was derived from sources outside of the United States.

12.     Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees:

Litigation

     Between July 2, 2001 and November 7, 2001, purported class action lawsuits seeking monetary damages were filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York against the Company and several of its officers and directors as well as against the underwriters of its October 28, 1999 initial
public offering of common stock. The complaints were filed allegedly on behalf of persons who purchased the Company’s common stock during different time
periods, all beginning on October 28, 1999 and ending on various dates. The complaints are similar and allege violations of the Securities Act of 1933 and the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 primarily based on the allegation that the underwriters received undisclosed compensation in connection with the Company’s
initial public offering. The Company has not accrued any amounts related to these lawsuits because a loss is not yet considered probable.

     In June 2002, the Company filed a lawsuit against Speedera Networks, Inc. (“Speedera”) in California Superior Court alleging theft of Akamai trade secrets
from an independent company that provides website performance testing services. In October 2002, Speedera filed a cross-claim against the Company seeking
monetary damages and injunctive relief and alleging that Akamai engaged in various unfair trade practices, made false and misleading statements and engaged in
unfair competition. The Company has not accrued any amounts related to the cross-claim because a loss is not yet considered probable.

     In July 2002, Cable and Wireless Internet Services (“C&W”), formerly known as Digital Island, filed a lawsuit against the Company in the United States
District Court for the District of Massachusetts alleging that certain Akamai services infringe a C&W patent issued in that month. C&W sought a preliminary
injunction restraining the Company from offering an Akamai service feature alleged to infringe such patent. That motion was denied in April 2003. In August
2002, C&W filed a lawsuit against the Company in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California alleging that a different Akamai service
feature infringes a second C&W patent. C&W filed a motion for a preliminary injunction; however, that motion was dismissed. A trial date has been set for
December 2003. The Company has not accrued any amounts related to this litigation because a loss is not yet considered probable. In August 2003, C&W filed
suit against the Company and two of its subsidiaries in the High Court of Justice, Chancery Division in the United Kingdom alleging infringement of a C&W
patent. The Company has not accrued any amounts related to this litigation because a loss is not yet considered probable.

     In September 2002, Teknowledge Corporation (“Teknowledge”) filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware against Akamai,
C&W and Inktomi Corporation alleging that certain services offered by each company infringe a Teknowledge patent relating to automatic retrieval of changed
files by a network software agent. The Company has not recorded a liability related to this lawsuit because a loss is not yet considered probable.

     In November 2002, the Company filed a lawsuit against Speedera in federal court in Massachusetts for violation of a patent held by Akamai. In January 2003,
Speedera filed a counterclaim in this case alleging that Akamai has infringed a patent that was recently issued to Speedera. The Company has not recorded a
liability related to the counterclaim because the loss is not yet considered probable.
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     In April 2003, the Company and Massachusetts Institute of Technology (“M.I.T.”) amended a suit originally filed against Speedera in February 2002 in federal
court in Massachusetts alleging that Speedera infringes a newly-issued content delivery patent held by M.I.T. and licensed to Akamai. In response, Speedera filed
a counterclaim in this case alleging that Akamai has infringed a Speedera patent relating to the combined provision of traffic management and content delivery
services. The Company has not recorded a liability related to the counterclaim because a loss is not yet considered probable.

Guarantees

     In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation 45, or FIN 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN 45 elaborates on the existing disclosure requirements for most guarantees, including loan guarantees such as standby
letters of credit. FIN 45 also clarifies that at the time an entity issues a guarantee, the entity must recognize an initial liability for the fair value, or market value, of
the obligations it assumes under the guarantee and must disclose that information in its interim and annual financial statements. The disclosure provisions of FIN
45 were effective for the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002. The initial recognition and initial measurement
provisions of FIN 45 apply on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The fair value of the Company’s guarantees issued
or modified during the three months ended June 30, 2003 was nominal.

13.     Subsequent Events

     In July 2003, the Company discounted the amount due under a note receivable that had been issued to the Company by a former officer to enable him to
purchase shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company recorded the discounted amount of $1.0 million as equity-related compensation and reclassified
the remaining $1.8 million due on the note from stockholders’ deficit to current assets. The note was paid in full in July 2003.

14



Table of Contents

Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

     We believe that this report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These
statements are subject to risks and uncertainties and are based on the beliefs and assumptions of our management based on information currently available to our
management. Use of words such as “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” “should,” “likely” or similar expressions, indicate a
forward-looking statement. Forward-looking statements involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Certain of the information contained in this quarterly report
on Form 10-Q consists of forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, those set forth under the heading “Factors Affecting Future Operating Results.” We assume no obligation to update any such
forward-looking statements.

Overview

     The following sets forth, as a percentage of revenue, consolidated statements of operations data for the periods indicated:

                   
    For the Three Months  For the Six Months
    Ended June 30,  Ended June 30,

     
    2003  2002  2003  2002

       
Revenue   100%   100%   100%   100%
Cost of revenue   41.9   63.2   45.4   62.3 
Research and development   7.5   14.3   8.5   15.6 
Sales and marketing   31.9   45.8   31.1   45.3 
General and administrative   42.4   72.5   43.2   68.6 
Amortization of other intangible assets   0.0   6.1   3.0   10.1 
Restructuring charges (benefits)   3.4   1.7   (11.5)   17.5 
             
  Total cost and operating expenses   127.1   203.6   119.7   219.4 
             
Loss from operations   (27.1)   (103.6)   (19.7)   (119.4)
Interest expense, net   (11.3)   (10.3)   (11.4)   (9.8)
Loss on investments, net   0.0   (2.1)   0.0   (6.9)
             
Loss before provision for income taxes   (38.4)   (116.0)   (31.1)   (136.1)
Provision for income taxes   0.3   0.3   0.3   0.3 
             
 Net loss   (38.7)%   (116.3)%   (31.4)%   (136.4)%
             

     Since our inception, we have incurred significant costs to develop our technology, build our worldwide network, sell and market our services and software and
support our operations. In recent years, we have incurred significant restructuring expenses related to employee severance payments and facility lease settlements.
We have incurred significant losses and continue to experience negative cash flows from operations. We have not achieved profitability on a quarterly or annual
basis, and we anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses over at least the next 12 months. As of June 30, 2003, we had $300 million of convertible notes
outstanding, which become due in 2007. At June 30, 2003, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $96.3 million, of which $4.6 million is
restricted, as compared to $125.2 million, of which $13.4 million was restricted, as of December 31, 2002. For a further discussion, see “Liquidity and Capital
Resources” below.
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     We believe that our success is dependent on increasing our net monthly recurring revenue, developing new services and software that leverage our proprietary
technology and achieving and maintaining a proper alignment between our revenue and our cost structure. We define net monthly recurring revenue as new
bookings of recurring revenue less lost recurring revenue due to customer cancellations, non-renewals or collections issues. A typical recurring revenue contract
has a term of one to two years. During the three months ended June 30, 2003, we maintained positive net monthly recurring revenue; however, given the current
weak macroeconomic environment, we continue to sell our services and software into a depressed information technology market. Given these and other factors,
our ability to predict our future revenue stream is limited.

     Our ability to maintain gross margins that fall within our target range is also critical to our success. We are continuously managing our network costs by
renegotiating our current network contracts and entering into new competitively priced bandwidth and co-location contracts that are aligned with our revenue and
network usage forecasts. As a result, we have been successful in maintaining our gross margins despite pricing pressure on our service offerings; however, there
can be no guarantee that we will be able to continue to reduce our network-related expenses in the future.

     We continue to take steps towards aligning our recurring operating expenses with our revenues and gross margins. Our operating expenses include research
and development, sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses. These expenses were $30.9 million and $61.5 million for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2003, respectively, compared to $48.2 million and $96.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2002, respectively. During
2002 and 2003, we undertook actions to reduce our overall cost structure, including employee headcount reductions, facility lease terminations and restructurings.

     Our operating expenses include restructuring charges. We recorded a restructuring benefit of $8.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003. This benefit
represents the adjustment of previously recorded restructuring liabilities due to favorable lease settlements, partially offset by termination costs relating to a
facility in Europe. We may incur restructuring charges in the future depending on numerous factors, including the timing and amount of future lease modifications
and terminations, the timing and amount of any sublease receipts and any future employee severances. We expect that long-term leases that have been
restructured as of June 30, 2003 will require approximately $9.0 million of future contractual payments.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

     Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared by us in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure.
Estimates reflected in our consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, investments,
intangible assets, taxes, depreciable lives of property and equipment, restructuring accruals and contingent obligations. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. See the
section entitled “Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 for
further discussion of these critical accounting policies and estimates.
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Results of Operations

Revenue. Total revenue increased 4%, or $1.4 million, to $37.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003 as compared to $36.3 million for the same
period in the prior year. The increase in total revenue for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 as compared to the same period in the prior year was primarily
attributable to an increase in service revenue, partially offset by a reduction in license and related party revenue. Total revenue for the six months ended June 30,
2003 and 2002 remained constant at $74.3 million and $74.2 million, respectively. Service revenue increased 9% for the six months ended June 30, 2003
compared to the prior year, offset by a reduction in license and related-party revenue.

     Resellers accounted for 27% of total revenue during the three months ended June 30, 2003 as compared to 23% in the same period in the prior year. For the
both the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2003, 15% of our revenue was derived from our operations located outside of the United States compared to
13% for the same periods in the prior year. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2003, Microsoft Corporation accounted for 12% and 11%, respectively, of
revenue. No other customer accounted for 10% or more of revenue in 2003. No customer accounted for more than 10% of revenue for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2002.

     As of June 30, 2003, we had 1,001 customers under recurring revenue contracts as compared to 1,034 as of June 30, 2002. Average monthly revenue for each
of these customers was approximately $12,300 in the three months ended June 30, 2003, as compared to $10,750 in the same period in the prior year. We
increased our EdgeSuite customer base to 434 as of June 30, 2003 with average per-customer monthly recurring revenue of approximately $18,300, as compared
to 211 EdgeSuite customers generating average recurring revenue of approximately $22,300 during the same period in the prior year. The reduction in average
revenue per EdgeSuite customer was largely a result of the introduction of our new EdgeSuite Delivery offering. This entry-level offering enables customers to
more easily consume the basic functionality of our EdgeSuite platform, which has led to an increase in the total number of EdgeSuite customers. This is
consistent with our strategy to accelerate market penetration in terms of our customer base, earn trusted relationships with more customers and gain the
opportunity to “up-sell” the advanced features and services of our platform including Secure Content Delivery, Dynamic Content Assembly, SureRoute and
EdgeComputing to this growing customer base.

     Service revenue increased 18%, or $5.6 million, to $36.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003, as compared to $31.3 million for the same period
in the prior year. The increase in service revenue was primarily attributable to an increase in average monthly recurring revenue per customer across all of our
service offerings, offset by a slight decrease in the number of customers under recurring revenue contracts. The increase in average monthly recurring revenue
resulted primarily from changes in the mix of services purchased by customers.

     License and other revenue decreased 68%, or $1.7 million, to $814,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2003 as compared to $2.5 million for the same
period in the prior year. License and other revenue includes sales of customized technology solutions sold as perpetual licenses or delivered under long-term
contracts. The decrease in license and other revenue reflects a decrease in the number of perpetual licenses executed in the three months ended June 30, 2003 as
compared to the same period in the prior year. We expect that license and other revenue will continue to be a relatively small portion of overall revenues during
the remainder of 2003.

     Service and license revenue from related parties decreased 98%, or $2.5 million, to $63,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2003, as compared to
$2.6 million for the same period in the prior year. The decrease in revenue from related parties was primarily attributable to revenue in the prior year from
Sockeye Networks, Inc., SBBM and Akamai Technologies Japan KK with no associated revenue in 2003. We expect no revenue from related parties during the
remainder of 2003.

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue includes fees paid to network providers for bandwidth and co-location of our network equipment. Cost of revenue also includes
payroll and related costs and equity-related
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compensation for network operations personnel, cost of licenses, depreciation of network equipment used to deliver our services and amortization of internal-use
software costs.

     Cost of revenue decreased 31%, or $7.1 million, to $15.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003 compared to $23.0 million for the same period in
the prior year. For the six months ended June 30, 2003 cost of revenue decreased 28%, or $12.8 million, to $33.4 million as compared to $46.3 million for the
same period in the prior year. We decreased cost of revenue by entering into competitively priced network contracts, renegotiating current network contracts to
achieve more favorable pricing and improving the management of our network traffic in the current period. Traffic delivered over our network increased over
150% during the three months ended June 30, 2003 compared to the same period in the prior year.

      We are continuously managing our network costs by renegotiating our current network contracts and entering into new competitively priced bandwidth and
co-location contracts that are aligned with our revenue and network usage forecasts. Cost of revenue during the three and six months ended June 30, 2003
decreased due to credits of approximately $1.1 million and $1.6 million, respectively, received as a result of network contract settlements and renegotiations. We
expect that credits of this nature may occur in the future as a result of our efforts to lower our network costs; however, the timing and amount of these credits will
vary.

     For the three and six months ended June 30, 2003 and 2002, cost of revenue was comprised of the following (in millions):

                 
  For the Three Months  For the Six Months
  Ended June 30,  Ended June 30,

   
  2003  2002  2003  2002

     
Bandwidth, co-location and storage  $ 5,846  $ 9,400  $11,900  $19,097 
Payroll and related costs of network operations personnel,

including equity compensation   742   1,718   1,578   3,418 
Cost of license and other   98   —   203   — 
Depreciation of network equipment and amortization of

internal-use software   9,146   11,848   20,036   23,762 
             
Total cost of revenue  $15,832  $22,966  $33,717  $46,277 
             

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of payroll and related costs and equity-related compensation for research and
development personnel who design, develop, test and enhance our services and our network. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred, except
certain internal-use software development costs eligible for capitalization. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2003, we capitalized software
development costs of $1.7 million and $3.5 million, respectively, net of impairments, as compared to $1.5 million and $2.9 million, respectively, for the same
periods in the prior year. These capitalized internal-use software costs are amortized to cost of revenue over their useful lives.

     Research and development expenses decreased 46%, or $2.4 million, to $2.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003, as compared to $5.2 million for
the same period in the prior year. For the six months ended June 30, 2003, research and development expenses decreased 46%, or $5.3 million, to $6.3 million as
compared to $11.6 million for the same period in the prior year. The decrease in research and development expenses was primarily due to an increase in
capitalization of internal-use software development costs and a decrease in payroll and related costs, including reduced equity-related compensation, as a result of
reduced headcount.

     The following table quantifies the net reduction in research and development expenses (in millions):
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  For the Three  For the Six Months
  Months Ended  Ended June 30,
  June 30, 2003 as  2003 as Compared
  Compared to 2002  to 2002

   
Payroll and related costs, including equity

compensation  $(1.8)  $(4.3)
Capitalization of internal-use software

development costs and other   (0.6)   (1.0)
       
Total decrease  $(2.4)  $(5.3)
       

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of payroll and related costs, equity-related compensation and commissions for personnel
engaged in marketing, sales and service support functions, as well as advertising and promotional expenses and certain operating costs for our international sales
offices. Sales and marketing expenses decreased 28%, or $4.6 million, to $12.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003 as compared to $16.6 million for
the same period in the prior year. For the six months ended June 30, 2003, sales and marketing expenses decreased 31%, or $10.5 million, to $23.1 million as
compared to $33.6 million for the same period in the prior year. The decrease in sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to a reduction in payroll and
payroll-related costs, including equity-related compensation attributable to a reduction in headcount in 2002 and a decrease in advertising costs associated with an
agreement between CNN and the Company, which expired in the fourth quarter of 2002.

The following table quantifies the net reduction in sales and marketing expenses (in millions):

         
  For the Three  For the Six
  Months Ended  Months Ended
  June 30, 2003 as  June 30, 2003 as
  Compared to 2002  Compared to 2002

   
Payroll and related costs, including equity

compensation  $(3.2)  $ (7.1)
Advertising and related costs   (2.0)   (3.8)
Other   0.6   0.4 
       
Total decrease  $(4.6)  $(10.5)
       

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of depreciation of property and equipment used by us internally, payroll and
related costs, including equity-related compensation and related expenses for executive, finance, business applications, network management, human resources
and other administrative personnel, fees for professional services, the provision for doubtful accounts and rent and other facility-related expenditures for leased
properties.

     General and administrative expenses decreased 39%, or $10.3 million, to $16.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003 as compared to $26.3 million
for the same period in the prior year. For the six months ended June 30, 2003, general and administrative expenses decreased 37%, or $18.8 million, to
$32.1 million as compared to $50.9 million for the same period in the prior year. The decrease in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to
reduced payroll and related costs, including equity-related compensation, as a result of reductions in headcount, reduced rent expense due to facility restructurings
and a reduction in depreciation.

The following table quantifies the net reduction in general and administrative expenses (in millions):

         
  For the Three  For the Six
  Months Ended  Months Ended
  June 30, 2003 as  June 30, 2003 as
  Compared to 2002  Compared to 2002

   
Depreciation  $ (4.5)  $ (8.0)
Payroll and related costs, including equity

compensation   (3.5)   (6.3)
Rent and facilities   (2.1)   (2.9)
Other   (0.2)   (1.6)
       
Total decrease  $(10.3)  $(18.8)
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Amortization of Other Intangible Assets. Amortization of other intangible assets decreased 99%, or $2.2 million, to $12,000 for the three months ended June 30,
2003 as compared to $2.2 million for the same period in the prior year. For the six months ended June 30, 2003, amortization of other intangible assets decreased
70%, or $5.3 million, to $2.2 million as compared to $7.5 million for the same period in the prior year. Intangible assets acquired in business combinations were
fully amortized as of the end of the first quarter of 2003. We expect to amortize approximately $25,000 of intangible assets during the remainder of 2003 and
$50,000 in each year thereafter through 2008.

Restructuring Charges. During the second quarter of 2003, we amended or terminated three long-term leases in connection with which we paid our lessors a total
of $16.1 million in cash and restricted cash. As a result of these lease amendments and terminations, we reversed $9.5 million of previously accrued restructuring
liabilities for the six months ended June 30, 2003 and recorded $1.1 million for costs relating to the restructuring of a facility located in Europe. These settlements
will result in cost savings of approximately $8.0 million starting in 2004 and over $50.0 million by the end of the original lease terms. The three lease transactions
are as follows:

(i)      We amended our lease obligation for our facility in Santa Clara, California. Under terms of the amendment, we made a payment of $9.4 million, including
brokerage fees of $600,000. The total payment included the release of $5.7 million in restricted cash. We will continue to pay rent at the previously contracted
rate through the end of 2003. Thereafter, rent will be reduced to a lower rate substantially aligned with market rates in the area. The amended lease is scheduled to
terminate in August 2007. As of June 30, 2003, the remaining restructuring liability related to this facility was $8.3 million, against which the remaining rent
payments will be applied. We have substantially vacated this area and are actively seeking a subtenant for this space; however, we have estimated no sublease
income due to the market conditions in the area.

(ii)      We terminated our long-term lease for our San Mateo, California facility and entered into a new lease for this facility for a payment of $6.0 million. Of
such $6.0 million payment, $1.1 million has been recorded as a prepayment for the remaining utilized space and is being amortized over the remaining term of the
lease. We had previously accrued a restructuring liability for the vacant portion of the original lease. The new lease is scheduled to expire in May 2008. Rent
payments under the new lease are more in line with current market rates and the amount of leased space has been reduced by more than 60%.

(iii)      Finally, we terminated our lease for a facility located in Europe for a fee of approximately $700,000. In connection with this termination, we impaired
$400,000 of long-lived assets and long-term deposits. We have relocated our operations in the United Kingdom to a smaller facility.

     In the first quarter of 2002, we terminated our facility leases for 500 and 600 Technology Square in Cambridge, Massachusetts, at an aggregate cost of
$15.9 million, including brokerage and legal fees. As of the termination date, the accrued restructuring liability attributable to these leases was $7.2 million.
Accordingly, we recorded an additional restructuring charge of $8.7 million for the difference between the actual termination costs and the amount previously
accrued. In addition, we recorded an additional $3.7 million restructuring charge, which represents a reduction in anticipated sublease income. During the second
quarter of 2002, we recorded a non-cash restructuring charge of $602,000 to write-off long-lived assets and deferred rent related to vacated properties. As a result,
during the six months ended June 30, 2002 we recorded total restructuring charges of $13.0 million.

     The following table summarizes the usage of the restructuring liabilities related to real estate leases for the six months ended June 30, 2003 (in millions):

       
    Restructuring
    Liabilities

    
Ending balance, December 31, 2002  $ 37.6 

 
Restructuring benefits (includes reversal of $9.5 million of previously accrued

restructuring liabilities)   (8.5)
 Cash payments   (20.1)
    
Ending balance, June 30, 2003  $ 9.0 
    
  Current portion of accrued restructuring  $ 4.6 
    
  Long-term portion of accrued restructuring  $ 4.4 
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The amount of restructuring liabilities associated with real estate leases has been estimated based on the most recently available market data and discussions with
our lessors and real estate advisors. In the event that we are able to sublease our restructured space at amounts that are higher than previously anticipated, we will
record an adjustment to the restructuring liability in the period in which the adjustment becomes probable and estimable.

Interest Expense, Net. Net interest expense includes interest accrued on our debt obligations less interest earned on invested cash balances. Net interest expense
increased 14%, or $535,000, to $4.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003 as compared to $3.7 million for the same period in the prior year. For the
six months ended June 30, 2003, net interest expense increased 16%, or $1.2 million, to $8.5 million compared to $7.3 million for the same period in the prior
year. The increase in net interest expense was a result of a decrease in our invested cash balance and a decrease in the interest rates earned on our investments.

Loss on Investments. Loss on investments for the six months ended June 30, 2003 was $15,000 as compared to $5.1 million for the same period in the prior year.
Loss on investments for the six months ended June 30, 2003 represents realized investment losses on the sale of marketable securities. For the six months ended
June 30, 2002, loss on investments includes $4.3 million attributable to our investment in Netaxs, Inc., a related party at the time of the transaction, which was
realized as a result of a merger transaction between Netaxs and FASTNET Corporation in April 2002, a loss of $902,000 to adjust the cost basis of an investment
in an equity security to fair value and approximately $143,000 of realized investment gains.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

     To date, we have financed our operations primarily through private sales of capital stock, the issuance in April 1999 of senior subordinated notes totaling
approximately $124.6 million in net proceeds, which we repaid in 1999, an initial public offering of our common stock in October 1999 which resulted in net
proceeds of $217.6 million after underwriters’ discounts and commissions, and the sale in June 2000 of $300 million in 5 ½% convertible subordinated notes due
July 2007, which generated net proceeds of $290.2 million.

     As of June 30, 2003, cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaled $96.3 million, of which $4.6 million is subject to restrictions limiting our ability
to withdraw or otherwise use such cash. To date, our revenue has not been sufficient to fully fund our liquidity needs. Accordingly, we have used our cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities on hand to address the deficiency. As a result, cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities decreased by $13.6 million
during the three months ended June 30, 2003 and $28.9 million during the six months ended June 30, 2003. Of the $28.9 million decrease, $8.3 million was
attributable to payment of interest on our 5 ½% convertible notes, $4.3 million was attributable to litigation settlement costs net of insurance proceeds, and
$16.1 million was attributable to facility lease settlement. We expect our payments relating to facility lease restructurings to decrease in the future. We expect to
make approximately $3.7 million in payments toward restructured facility leases during the remainder of 2003.

     Cash used in operating activities decreased 39%, or $17.0 million, to $26.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003 compared to $44.0 million for the
same period in the prior year. The decrease in
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cash used in operating activities was primarily due to a decrease in net losses before non-cash expenses, including the reversal of $9.5 million of restructuring
liabilities, partially offset by an increase of $9.0 million in accounts and notes receivable and a decrease in accounts payable. We expect that cash used in
operating activities will continue to decline as a result of actions we undertook in 2002 and 2003 to reduce operating costs by reducing our rent expenses;
however, the timing and amount of any other working capital changes will affect the actual amount of cash used in operating activities.

     Cash provided by investing activities was $4.8 for the six months ended June 30, 2003 compared to $52.4 million for the same period in the prior year. The
decrease in cash provided by investing activities was primarily due to a decrease in proceeds from sales and maturities of investments. Cash provided by investing
activities for the six months ended June 30, 2003 reflects net purchases, sales and maturities of investments of $8.8 million less capital expenditures of
$4.1 million, consisting primarily of the capitalization of internal-use software development costs related to our current and future service offerings. We do not
anticipate significant capital expenditures related to our deployed network during 2003. We expect to use our available cash to fund the expenditures. In July
2003, we realized investment gains of $1.5 million related to the sale of an equity investment.

     Cash provided by financing activities was $576,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2003, as compared to cash provided by financing activities of $772,000
for the six months ended June 30, 2002. Cash provided by financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2003 reflects proceeds from the issuance of
common stock under our stock plans and employee stock purchase plans of $1.7 million and payments on our capital lease obligations of $1.2 million. We expect
cash provided by financing activities of $1.8 million in the third quarter of 2003 as a result of the settlement of a note receivable with a former officer.

     We believe, based on our present business plan, that our current cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities and restricted marketable securities of
$96.3 million will be sufficient to meet our cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures for at least the next 24 months. If the assumptions underlying
our business plan regarding future revenue and expenditures change or if unexpected opportunities or needs arise, we may seek to raise additional cash by selling
equity or debt securities. We may seek to retire or refinance our long-term debt with cash, equity or a combination thereof. If additional funds are raised through
the issuance of equity or debt securities, these securities could have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those accruing to holders of common stock, and
the terms of such debt could impose restrictions on our operations. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities could result in additional dilution to
our stockholders. See “Factors Affecting Future Operating Results.”
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

     As a result of our amended and terminated facility lease agreements for our Santa Clara, San Mateo and European properties and an amendment to a capital
lease agreement, our contractual obligations have been revised The following table presents our contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of
June 30, 2003 over the next five years and thereafter (in millions):

                     
  Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations  
as of June 30, 2003      Less than  12-36  36-60  More than

  Amount  12 months  months  months  60 months
     

5 1/2% convertible notes  $300.0  $ —  $ —  $300.0  $ — 
Bandwidth and co-location agreements   14.4   10.7   3.7   —   — 
Real estate leases   30.1   8.8   10.2   8.4   2.7 
Capital leases and vendor financing   1.1   1.1   —   —   — 
Purchase obligations   0.5   0.5   —   —   — 
                
Total contractual obligations  $346.1  $21.1  $13.9  $308.4  $2.7 
                

Letters of Credit

     As of June 30, 2003, we had issued $4.6 million in irrevocable letters of credit in favor of third-party beneficiaries, primarily related to long-term facility
leases. The letters of credit are collateralized by restricted marketable securities, of which $4.0 million are classified as long-term marketable securities and
$630,000 are classified as short-term marketable securities on the consolidated balance sheet dated as of June 30, 2003. The restrictions on these marketable
securities lapse as we fulfill our obligations or as such obligations expire as provided by the letters of credit.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

     We have entered into indemnification agreements with third parties, including vendors, customers, landlords, our officers and directors, shareholders of
acquired companies, joint venture partners and third parties to whom we license technology. Generally, these indemnification agreements require us to reimburse
losses suffered by the third party due to various events, such as lawsuits arising from patent or copyright infringement or our negligence. These indemnification
obligations are considered off-balance sheet arrangements in accordance with FASB Interpretation 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” See “Obligations under Guarantees” in the footnotes to our consolidated financial
statements included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 for further discussion of these indemnification agreements. The
initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of FIN 45 apply on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002.
Guarantees issued or modified during the three and six months ended June 30, 2003 was nominal.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

     In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, reached a consensus on Issue 00-21 “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” EITF
00-21 addresses revenue recognition for revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables. The deliverables in these revenue arrangements should be divided into
separate units of accounting when the individual deliverables have value to the customer on a stand-alone basis, there is objective and reliable evidence of the fair
value of the undelivered elements, and, if the arrangement includes a general right to return the delivered element, delivery or performance of the undelivered
element is considered probable. The relative fair value of each unit should be determined and the total consideration of the arrangement should be allocated
among the
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individual units based on their relative fair value. The guidance in this issue is effective for revenue arrangements entered into after June 30, 2003. We do not
expect that the adoption of EITF 00-21 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

     In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Interpretation 46, or FIN 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - an
interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51.” FIN 46 addresses consolidation of variable interest entities where the equity investment at risk is not
sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties and the equity investors lack one or
more essential characteristics of a controlling financial interest. This Interpretation applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003,
and to variable interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. It applies in the first fiscal year or interim period beginning after June 15,
2003, to variable interest entities in which an enterprise holds a variable interest that it acquired before February 1, 2003. We are not currently an investor in any
variable interest entities.

     In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, or SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS No. 150 clarifies the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of debt that, under
previous guidance, issuers could account for as equity. SFAS No. 150 requires that those instruments be classified as liabilities in statements of financial position.
SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective July 1, 2003. The adoption of SFAS
No. 150 did not have a material effect on our financial statements.

Factors Affecting Future Operating Results

     The following important factors, among other things, could cause our actual operating results to differ materially from those indicated or suggested by
forward-looking statements made in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q or presented elsewhere by management from time to time.

     Failure to increase our revenue and keep our expenses consistent with revenues could prevent us from achieving and maintaining profitability.

     We have never been profitable. We have incurred significant losses since inception and expect to continue to incur losses in the future. We have large fixed
expenses, and we expect to continue to incur significant bandwidth, sales and marketing, product development, administrative, interest and other expenses.
Therefore, we will need to generate significantly higher revenue to achieve and maintain profitability. There are numerous factors that could impede our ability to
increase revenue and moderate expenses, including:

 •     failure to increase sales of our EdgeSuite service;
 
 •     any lack of market acceptance of our services due to continuing concerns about commercial use of the Internet, including security, reliability, speed,

cost, ease of access, quality of service and regulatory initiatives;
 
 •     any failure of our current and planned services and software to operate as expected;
 
 •     a failure by us to respond rapidly to technological changes in our industry which could cause our services to become obsolete;
 
 •     a continuation of adverse economic conditions worldwide that have contributed to slowdowns in capital expenditures by businesses, particularly

capital spending in the information technology market;
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 •     failure of a significant number of customers to pay our fees on a timely basis or at all or to continue to purchase our services in accordance with their
contractual commitments; and

 
 •     inability to attract high-quality customers to purchase and implement our current and planned services and software.

     Our failure to significantly increase our revenue would seriously harm our business and operating results and could cause us to fail to make interest or
principal payments on our outstanding indebtedness.

     We have significant long-term debt, and we may not be able to make interest or principal payments when due. As of June 30, 2003, our total long-term debt
was approximately $300 million and our stockholders’ deficit was approximately $180.7 million. Our 5 1/2% convertible subordinated notes due 2007, which we
refer to as our 5 1/2% notes, do not restrict our ability or our subsidiaries’ ability to incur additional indebtedness, including debt that ranks senior to the 5 1/2%
notes. Our ability to satisfy our obligations will depend upon our future performance, which is subject to many factors, including factors beyond our control. The
holders of our 5 1/2% notes have the right to convert the notes into our common stock. The conversion price for the 5 1/2% notes is $115.47 per share. The
current market price for shares of our common stock is significantly below the conversion price of our convertible subordinated notes. If the market price for our
common stock does not exceed the conversion price, the holders of the notes are unlikely to convert their securities into common stock.

     Our 5 ½% convertible subordinated debentures are currently trading at a discount to their face amount. Accordingly, in order to reduce future cash interest
payments, as well as future payments due at maturity, we may, from time to time, depending on market conditions, repurchase outstanding convertible debentures
for cash; exchange debentures for shares of our common stock, warrants, preferred stock, debt or other consideration; or a combination of any of the foregoing. If
we exchange shares of our capital stock, or securities convertible into or exercisable for our capital stock, for outstanding convertible debentures, the number of
shares that we might issue as a result of such exchanges could significantly exceed the number of shares originally issuable upon conversion of such debentures.
We cannot assure you that we will repurchase or exchange any outstanding convertible debentures.

     Historically, we have had negative cash flow from operations. For the year ended December 31, 2002, net cash used in operating activities was approximately
$65.8 million. For the quarter ended June 30, 2003, net cash used in operating activities was approximately $13.9 million. Annual interest payments on our
debentures, assuming no securities are converted or redeemed, is approximately $16.5 million. Unless we are able to generate sufficient operating cash flow to
service the 5 1/2% notes, we will be required to raise additional funds or default on our obligations under the debentures and notes.

     If we are required to seek additional funding, such funding may not be available on acceptable terms or at all.

     If our revenue decreases or grows more slowly than we anticipate or if our operating expenses increase more than we expect or cannot be reduced in the event
of lower revenue, we may need to obtain funding from outside sources. If we are unable to obtain this funding, our business would be materially and adversely
affected. In addition, even if we were to find outside funding sources, we might be required to issue securities with greater rights than the securities we have
outstanding today. We might also be required to take other actions that could lessen the value of our common stock, including borrowing money on terms that are
not favorable to us.
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     The markets in which we operate are highly competitive and we may be unable to compete successfully against new entrants and established companies
with greater resources.

     We compete in markets that are new, intensely competitive, highly fragmented and rapidly changing. We have experienced and expect to continue to
experience increased competition. Many of our current competitors, as well as a number of our potential competitors, have longer operating histories, greater
name recognition, broader customer relationships and industry alliances and substantially greater financial, technical and marketing resources than we do. Our
competitors may be able to respond more quickly than we can to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements. Some of our current or
potential competitors may bundle their services with other services, software or hardware in a manner that may discourage website owners from purchasing any
service we offer or Internet service providers, or ISPs, from installing our servers. Increased competition could result in price and revenue reductions, loss of
customers and loss of market share, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

     If the prices we charge for our services decline over time, our business and financial results are likely to suffer.

     Prices we have been charging for some of our services have declined in recent quarters. We expect that this decline may continue in the future as a result of,
among other things, existing and new competition in the markets we address. Consequently, our historical revenue rates may not be indicative of future revenue
based on comparable traffic volumes. If we are unable to sell our services at acceptable prices relative to our costs or if we are unsuccessful with our strategy of
“upselling” our higher-priced services to our EdgeSuite Delivery customers, our revenue and gross margins will decrease, and our business and financial results
will suffer.

     Any unplanned interruption in our network or services could lead to significant costs and disruptions that could reduce our revenue and harm our
business, financial results and reputation.

     Our business is dependent on providing our customers with fast, efficient and reliable Internet distribution application and content delivery services. For our
core services, we currently provide a guarantee that our networks will deliver Internet content 24 hours a day, seven days a week, 365 days a year. If we do not
meet this standard, our customer does not pay for all or a part of its services on that day. Our network or services could be disrupted by numerous things,
including, among other things, natural disasters, failure or refusal of our third party network providers to provide the capacity, power losses, and intentional
disruptions of our services, such as disruptions caused by software viruses or attacks by hackers. Any widespread loss or interruption of our network or services
would reduce our revenue and could harm our business, financial results and reputation.

     We may have insufficient transmission capacity which could result in interruptions in our services and loss of revenues.

     Our operations are dependent in part upon transmission capacity provided by third-party telecommunications network providers. We believe that we have
access to adequate capacity to provide our services; however, there can be no assurance that we are adequately prepared for unexpected increases in bandwidth
demands by our customers. In addition, the bandwidth we have contracted to purchase may become unavailable for a variety of reasons. For example, a number
of these network providers have recently filed for protection under the federal bankruptcy laws. As a result, there is uncertainty about whether such providers, or
others that enter into bankruptcy, will be able to continue to provide services to us. Any failure of these network providers to provide the capacity we require, due
to financial or other reasons, may result in a reduction in, or interruption of, service to our customers. If we do not have access to third-party transmission
capacity, we could lose customers. If we are unable to obtain transmission capacity on terms commercially acceptable to us, our business and financial results
could suffer. In addition, our telecommunications and network providers typically provide rack space for
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our servers. Damage or destruction of, or other denial of access to, a facility where our servers are housed could result in a reduction in, or interruption of, service
to our customers.

     Because our services are complex and are deployed in complex environments, they may have errors or defects that could seriously harm our business.

     Our services are highly complex and are designed to be deployed in and across numerous large and complex networks. From time to time, we have needed to
correct errors and defects in our software. In the future, there may be additional errors and defects in our software that may adversely affect our services. If we are
unable to efficiently fix errors or other problems that may be identified, we could experience loss of revenues and market share, damage to our reputation,
increased expenses and legal actions by our customers.

     If the estimates we make, and the assumptions on which we rely, in preparing our financial statements prove inaccurate, our actual results may vary from
these reflected in our projections and accruals.

     Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of
these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments about, including without limitation taxes, doubtful accounts and restructuring charges, that
affect the reported amounts of our assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, the amounts of charges accrued by us, such as those made in connection with our
restructuring charges, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions
that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. There can be no assurance, however, that our estimates, or the assumptions underlying them, will be
correct. As a result, our actual results could vary from those reflected in our projections and accruals, which could adversely affect our stock price.

     Our business involves numerous risks and uncertainties that affect the trading price of our common stock, which could result in litigation against us.

     The price of our common stock has been and likely will continue to be subject to substantial fluctuations. The following factors may contribute to the
instability of our stock price:

 •     variations in our quarterly operating results;
 
 •     the addition or departure of our key personnel;
 
 •     announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, litigation developments, or new or enhanced products or service offerings;
 
 •     changes in financial estimates by securities analysts;
 
 •     our sales of common stock or other securities in the future;
 
 •     changes in market valuations of networking, Internet and telecommunications companies;
 
 •     significant discrepancies between our estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial statements and our actual results;
 
 •     significant unexpected cash payments;
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 •     fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes; and
 
 •     changes in general economic conditions, including interest rate levels.

Class action litigation is often brought against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their common stock. If such litigation were brought
against us, it could be expensive and divert our management’s attention and resources that could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.

     If our license agreement with MIT terminates, our business could be adversely affected.

     We have licensed from MIT technology covered by various patent applications and copyrights relating to Internet content delivery technology. Some of our
technology is based in part on the technology covered by these patent applications and copyrights. Our license is effective for the life of the patent and patent
applications; however, under limited circumstances, such as a cessation of our operations due to our insolvency or our material breach of the terms of the license
agreement, MIT has the right to terminate our license. A termination of our license agreement with MIT could have a material adverse effect on our business.

     We have incurred and could continue to incur substantial costs defending our intellectual property from infringement or a claim of infringement.

     Other companies or individuals, including our competitors, may obtain patents or other proprietary rights that would prevent, limit or interfere with our ability
to make, use or sell our services. As a result, we may be found to infringe the proprietary rights of others. In the event of a successful claim of infringement
against us and our failure or inability to license the infringed technology, our business and operating results would be significantly harmed. Companies in the
Internet market are increasingly bringing suits alleging infringement of their proprietary rights, particularly patent rights. We have been named as a defendant in
several lawsuits alleging that we have violated other companies’ intellectual property rights. Any litigation or claims, whether or not valid, could result in
substantial costs and diversion of resources and require us to do one or more of the following:

 •     cease selling, incorporating or using products or services that incorporate the challenged intellectual property;
 
 •     obtain a license from the holder of the infringed intellectual property right, which license may not be available on reasonable terms or at all; and
 
 •     redesign products or services.

      If we are forced to take any of these actions, our business may be seriously harmed.

     Our business will be adversely affected if we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights from third-party challenges.

     We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws and restrictions on disclosure to protect our intellectual property rights. These
legal protections afford only limited protection. Monitoring unauthorized use of our services is difficult and we cannot be certain that the steps we have taken will
prevent unauthorized use of our technology, particularly in foreign countries where the laws may not protect our proprietary rights as fully as in the United States.
Although we have licensed and proprietary technology covered by patents, we cannot be certain that any such patents will not be challenged, invalidated or
circumvented. Furthermore, we cannot be certain that any pending or future
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patent applications will be granted, that any future patent will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, or that rights granted under any patent that may be
issued will provide competitive advantages to us.

     If we are unable to retain our key employees and hire qualified sales and technical personnel, our ability to compete could be harmed.

     Our future success depends upon the continued services of our executive officers and other key technology, sales, marketing and support personnel who have
critical industry experience and relationships that they rely on in implementing our business plan. None of our officers or key employees is bound by an
employment agreement for any specific term. We have a “key person” life insurance policy covering only the life of F. Thomson Leighton. The loss of the
services of any of our key employees could delay the development and introduction of and negatively impact our ability to sell our services.

     We face risks associated with international operations that could harm our business.

     We have operations in several foreign countries and may continue to expand our sales and support organizations internationally. Such expansion could require
us to make significant expenditures. We are increasingly subject to a number of risks associated with international business activities that may increase our costs,
lengthen our sales cycle and require significant management attention. These risks include:

 •  lack of market acceptance of our software and services abroad;
 
 •  increased expenses associated with marketing services in foreign countries;
 
 •  general economic conditions in international markets;
 
 •  currency exchange rate fluctuations;
 
 •  unexpected changes in regulatory requirements resulting in unanticipated costs and delays;
 
 •  tariffs, export controls and other trade barriers;
 
 •  longer accounts receivable payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable; and
 
 •  potentially adverse tax consequences.

     As part of our business strategy, we have entered into and may enter into or seek to enter into business combinations and acquisitions that may be difficult
to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value or divert management attention.

     We have made acquisitions of other companies in the past and may enter into additional business combinations and acquisitions in the future. Acquisitions are
typically accompanied by a number of risks, including the difficulty of integrating the operations and personnel of the acquired companies, the potential
disruption of our ongoing business, the potential distraction of management, expenses related to the acquisition and potential unknown liabilities associated with
acquired businesses. If we are not successful in completing acquisitions that we may pursue in the future, we may be required to reevaluate our business strategy,
and we may have incurred substantial expenses and devoted significant management time and resources without a productive result. In addition, with future
acquisitions, we
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could use substantial portions of our available cash or make dilutive issuances of securities. Future acquisitions or attempted acquisitions could have an adverse
effect on our ability to become profitable.

     Internet-related and other laws could adversely affect our business.

     Laws and regulations that apply to communications and commerce over the Internet are becoming more prevalent. In particular, the growth and development
of the market for online commerce has prompted calls for more stringent tax, consumer protection and privacy laws, both in the United States and abroad, that
may impose additional burdens on companies conducting business online. This could negatively affect the businesses of our customers and reduce their demand
for our services. We could also be negatively affected by tax laws that might apply to our servers which are located in many different jurisdictions. Internet-
related laws, however, remain largely unsettled, even in areas where there has been some legislative action. The adoption or modification of laws or regulations
relating to the Internet or our operations, or interpretations of existing law, could adversely affect our business.

     We could be delisted from the NASDAQ National Market if we are unable to comply with the continued listing requirements.

     We recently transferred our stock listing to the NASDAQ National Market from the NASDAQ Small Cap. In order to continue trading on the NASDAQ
National Market, we must satisfy the continued listing requirements for that market. While we are presently in compliance with the new continued listing
requirements, we cannot be sure that we will be able to maintain compliance with them. A delisting of our common stock from the NASDAQ National Market
could materially reduce the liquidity of our common stock and result in a corresponding material reduction in the price of our common stock. In addition, any
such delisting would materially adversely affect our ability to raise capital through alternative financing sources on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

     Terrorist activities and resulting military and other actions could adversely affect our business.

     Terrorist attacks in New York, Pennsylvania and Washington, D.C. in September 2001 disrupted commerce throughout the United States and other parts of the
world. The continued threat of terrorism within the United States and abroad, and the potential for military action and heightened security measures in response to
such threat, may cause significant disruption to commerce throughout the world. To the extent that such disruptions result in delays or cancellations of customer
orders, a general decrease in corporate spending on information technology, or our inability to effectively market, sell or operate our services and software, our
business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

     Provisions of our charter documents, our stockholder rights plan and Delaware law may have anti-takeover effects that could prevent a change in control
even if the change in control would be beneficial to our stockholders.

     Provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, by-laws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even
if doing so would be beneficial to our stockholders. In addition, in September 2002, our Board of Directors adopted a shareholder rights plans the provisions of
which could make it more difficult for a potential acquirer of Akamai to consummate an acquisition transaction.

     A class action lawsuit has been filed against us that may be costly to defend and the outcome of which is uncertain and may harm our business.

     We are named as a defendant in a purported class action lawsuit filed in 2001 alleging that the underwriters of our initial public offering received undisclosed
compensation in connection with our IPO in violation of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. This litigation could
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be expensive and divert the attention of our management and other resources. We can provide no assurance as to the outcome of this action. Any conclusion of
these matters in a manner adverse to us could have a material adverse affect on our financial position and results of operations.

     We may become involved in other litigation that may adversely affect us.

     In the ordinary course of business, we may become involved in litigation, administrative proceedings and governmental proceedings. Such matters can be
time-consuming, divert management’s attention and resources and cause us to incur significant expenses. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the results
of any of these actions will not have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.
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Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

     Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio. We do not use derivative financial instruments in our
portfolio. We place our investments with high quality issuers and, by policy, limit the amount of risk by investing primarily in money market funds, United States
Treasury obligations, high-quality corporate obligations and certificates of deposit. We expect to hold our marketable debt securities until maturity and do not
expect to realize significant losses on the sale of marketable debt securities prior to maturity. We also hold investments in the equity of several public and private
companies. The carrying amount of these investments at June 30, 2003 was approximately $978,000, which we believe approximates their fair value.

     We have operations in Europe and Japan. As a result, we are exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. We do not expect, however, that changes in
foreign exchange rates will have a significant impact on our consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows. We may continue to expand our
operations globally and sell to customers in foreign locations, which may increase our exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations.

     Our 5 1/2% convertible notes are subject to changes in market value. As of June 30, 2003, the carrying amount and fair value of these notes were $300 million
and $240 million, respectively.

Item 4.  Controls and Procedures

     Akamai’s management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of June 30, 2003. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of June 30, 2003, our disclosure controls and procedures were (1) designed to ensure that material information
relating to us, including our consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report was being prepared and (2) effective, in that they provide reasonable assurance that information required to be
disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
the SEC’s rules and forms.

     No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) occurred during the fiscal
quarter ended June 30, 2003 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II.  OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.  Legal Proceedings

     In April 2003, M.I.T. and Akamai amended a suit originally filed against Speedera Networks, Inc., or Speedera, in federal court in Massachusetts in February
2002, raising an allegation that Speedera infringes a newly-issued content delivery patent held by M.I.T. and licensed to Akamai. In response, Speedera filed a
counterclaim in this case alleging that Akamai has infringed a Speedera patent relating to the combined provision of traffic management and content delivery
services. We believe that we have meritorious defenses to the claims made in the counterclaim and intend to contest them vigorously; however, there can be no
assurance that we will be successful. We are not presently able to reasonably estimate potential losses, if any, related to this counterclaim.

     In August 2002, Cable and Wireless Internet Services, or C&W, filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
California alleging that an Akamai services feature infringes a C&W patent. In August 2003, a trial date was set for December 2003. Also in August 2003, C&W
filed suit against us and two of our subsidiaries in the High Court of Justice, Chancery Division in the United Kingdom alleging infringement of a C&W patent.
Because we have not yet received the particulars of C&W’s claims, we are unable to estimate potential losses, if any, related to this suit.

     See Item 3 of Part I of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 and Item 1 of Part III of our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2003 for a discussion of legal proceedings as to which there were no material developments during the quarter ended June 30, 2003.

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

     On May 20, 2003, we held our 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. At the meeting, the following matters were approved by the votes specified below:

     1.          George H. Conrades and Martin M. Coyne II were elected to serve as directors of Akamai until the annual meeting of 2006 or until their successors are
duly elected and qualified. With respect to Mr. Conrades 97,477,169 shares of common stock were voted in favor of his election, and 5,900,061 shares of
common stock were withheld. With respect to Mr. Coyne 102,336,429 of common stock were voted in favor of his election, and 1,040,801 shares were withheld.
There were no abstentions or broker non-votes.

     2.          The ratification of PricewaterhouseCooopers LLP as our independent public accountants for the year ended December 31, 2003 was approved. The
votes were cast as follows: 102,901,026 shares of common stock were voted for the ratification, 421,082 shares of common stock were voted against the
ratification, and 55,122 shares of common stock abstained from the vote. There were no broker non-votes.

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

(a)  Exhibits

     The exhibits filed as part of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q are listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the exhibits and are incorporated herein.

(b)  Reports on Form 8-K

     On April 30, 2003, we furnished a Current Report on Form 8-K, dated April 30, 2003, under Item 9 Regulation FD Disclosure (Information Furnished
Pursuant to Item 12 “Disclosure of Results of Operations and Financial Condition”), containing a press release announcing our financial results for the quarter
ended March 31, 2003.
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SIGNATURES

     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

     
  AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
     
     
Date: August 14, 2003

 
By:

 
/s/ Robert Cobuzzi     

  Robert Cobuzzi, Chief Financial Officer
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                                  EXHIBIT 10.26 
 
                            AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 
 
                        Incentive Stock Option Agreement 
                     Granted Under 1998 Stock Incentive Plan 
 
1.       Grant of Option. 
 
         This Incentive Stock Option Agreement (this "Agreement") evidences the 
grant by Akamai Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), on 
May 15, 2003 (the "Grant Date") to Michael Ruffolo, an employee of the Company 
(the "Participant"), of an option to purchase, in whole or in part, on the terms 
provided herein and in the Company's Second Amended and Restated 1998 Stock 
Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), a total of 575,000 shares (the "Shares") of common 
stock, $0.01 par value per share, of the Company ("Common Stock") at $3.71 per 
Share. Unless earlier terminated, this option shall expire on May 14, 2013 (the 
"Final Exercise Date"). 
 
         It is intended that the option evidenced by this agreement shall, to 
the extent it so qualifies, be an incentive stock option as defined in Section 
422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and any regulations 
promulgated there under (the "Code"). Schedule A hereto sets forth the number of 
shares with respect to which this option qualifies as an incentive stock option 
as of the date of grant. To the extent that the option does not on the date of 
grant, or hereafter ceases to, qualify as an incentive stock option, it shall be 
a non-qualified stock option. Except as otherwise indicated by the context, the 
term "Participant", as used in this option, shall be deemed to include any 
person who acquires the right to exercise this option validly under its terms. 
 
2.       Vesting Schedule. 
 
      (a)   General. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this 
            Agreement, including the accelerated vesting provisions set forth in 
            Section 2(b) below, this option will become exercisable ("vest") as 
            to 25% of the original number of Shares on the Grant Date and as to 
            an additional 6.25% of the original number of Shares at the end of 
            each successive full three-month period following the Grant Date 
            until the third anniversary of the Grant Date. For purposes of this 
            Section 2(a) the Vesting Start Date shall be May 15, 2003. 
 
      (b)   Accelerated Vesting upon Certain Corporate Milestones. In addition 
            to the scheduled vesting reflected in Section 2(a), this option 
            shall become vested as to an additional 47,916 shares, as of the 
            last day of each of the first three fiscal quarters during which the 
            Company has Revenue (as defined below) of at least 
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            $50,000,000 and a Gross Profit Percentage (as defined below) of at 
            least sixty-five percent (65%). 
 
      (c)   When used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the 
            meanings provided: 
 
            (i) "Revenue" shall mean, for so long as the Company is required to 
            make periodic reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
            amended (the "Exchange Act"), Total Revenue as reported in the 
            Company's consolidated financial statements filed with the 
            Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K or Form 10-Q 
            ("Public Company Financial Statements"). If, at any time, the 
            Company is not required to make periodic reports under the Exchange 
            Act, "Revenue" shall mean Total Revenue as set forth on regularly 
            prepared quarterly financial statements prepared by management 
            ("Private Company Financial Statements"). 
 
            (ii) "Gross Profit Percentage" for a calendar quarter means a 
            fraction, expressed as a percentage, the numerator of which is 
            Revenue for such fiscal quarter minus Cost of Service (or equivalent 
            measure) for such fiscal quarter, as reported in the Public Company 
            Financial Statements or Private Company Financial Statements, as 
            applicable at such time, and the denominator of which is the Revenue 
            for such fiscal quarter. 
 
      For purposes of the foregoing definitions in clauses (i) and (ii), 
      "Company" shall mean Akamai Technologies, Inc, and its wholly-owned 
      subsidiaries. 
 
      (d) The right of exercise shall be cumulative so that to the extent the 
option is not exercised in any period to the maximum extent permissible it shall 
continue to be exercisable, in whole or in part, with respect to all shares for 
which it is vested until the earlier of the Final Exercise Date or the 
termination of this option under Section 3 hereof or the Plan. 
 
      (e) Change in Control. Upon a Change in Control Event (as defined in the 
Plan), the number of Shares as to which this option has vested shall be 
calculated pursuant to Section 2(a) as though the Grant Date were the date that 
is one year prior to the Grant Date. 
 
 
3.       Exercise of Option. 
 
      Form of Exercise. In order to exercise this option, the Participant shall 
notify the Company's third-party stock option plan administrator, Charles Schwab 
& Co., or any successor appointed by the Company (the "Plan Administrator"), of 
the Participant's intent to exercise this option, and shall follow the 
procedures established by the Plan Administrator for exercising 
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stock options under the Plan and provide payment in full in the manner provided 
in the Plan. The Participant may purchase less than the number of shares covered 
hereby, provided that no partial exercise of this option may be for any 
fractional share. 
 
      (b) Continuous Relationship with the Company Required. Except as otherwise 
provided in this Section 3, this option may not be exercised unless the 
Participant, at the time he or she exercises this option, is, and has been at 
all times since the Grant Date, an employee, officer or director of, or 
consultant or advisor to, the Company or any parent or subsidiary of the Company 
as defined in Section 424(e) or (f) of the Code (an "Eligible Participant"). 
 
      (c) Termination of Relationship with the Company. If the Participant 
ceases to be an Eligible Participant for any reason, then, except as provided in 
paragraphs (d) and (e) below, the right to exercise this option shall terminate 
three months after such cessation (but in no event after the Final Exercise 
Date), provided that (i) this option shall be exercisable only to the extent 
that the Participant was entitled to exercise this option on the date of such 
cessation, and (ii) to the extent that the option or any portion thereof is 
exercised at any time later than three months after the date that the 
Participant ceases to be an employee of the Company or any parent or subsidiary 
of the Company as defined in Section 424(e) or (f) of the Code, the option shall 
be a non-qualified stock option. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the 
Participant, prior to the Final Exercise Date, violates the non-competition or 
confidentiality provisions of any employment contract, confidentiality and 
nondisclosure agreement or other agreement between the Participant and the 
Company, the right to exercise this option shall terminate immediately upon such 
violation. 
 
      (d) Exercise Period Upon Death or Disability. If the Participant dies or 
becomes disabled (within the meaning of Section 22(e)(3) of the Code) prior to 
the Final Exercise Date while he or she is an Eligible Participant and the 
Company has not terminated such relationship for "cause" as specified in 
paragraph (e) below, this option shall be exercisable, within the period of one 
year following the date of death or disability of the Participant by the 
Participant, provided that (i) this option shall be exercisable only to the 
extent that this option was exercisable by the Participant on the date of his or 
her death or disability, (ii) this option shall not be exercisable after the 
Final Exercise Date, and (iii) to the extent that the option or any portion 
thereof is exercised at any time later than one year after the Participant's 
termination as an employee of the Company or any parent or subsidiary of the 
Company (as defined in Section 424(e) or (f) of the Code) by reason of his or 
her disability (as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code), the option shall be 
a non-qualified stock option. 
 
      (e) Discharge for Cause. If the Participant, prior to the Final Exercise 
Date, is discharged by the Company for "cause" (as defined below), the right to 
exercise this option shall terminate immediately upon the effective date of such 
discharge. "Cause" shall mean willful misconduct by the Participant or willful 
failure by the Participant to perform his or her responsibilities to the Company 
(including, without limitation, breach by the Participant of any 
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provision of any employment, consulting, advisory, nondisclosure, 
non-competition or other similar agreement between the Participant and the 
Company), as determined by the Company, which determination shall be conclusive. 
The Participant shall be considered to have been discharged for "cause" if the 
Company determines, prior to or simultaneously with the Participant's 
resignation, that discharge for cause was warranted. 
 
      (f) Discharge for Reasons Other Than Cause. If the Participant, prior to 
the Final Exercise Date, is discharged by the Company for a reason other than 
"cause" (as defined above), then 100% of all Shares shall be deemed vested as of 
the termination date. The period of time for exercise of vested options under 
this paragraph (f) shall be as set forth in paragraph (c) above. 
 
4.       Withholding. 
 
      No Shares will be issued pursuant to the exercise of this option unless 
and until the Participant pays to the Company, or makes provision satisfactory 
to the Company for payment of, any federal, state or local withholding taxes 
required by law to be withheld in respect of this option. 
 
5.       Nontransferability of Option. 
 
      This option may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise 
encumbered by the Participant, either voluntarily or by operation of law, except 
by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and, during the lifetime of the 
Participant, this option shall be exercisable only by the Participant. 
 
6.       Disqualifying Disposition. 
 
      If the Participant disposes of Shares acquired upon exercise of this 
option within two years from the Grant Date (or, in the case of Shares acquired 
upon exercise of an Additional Grant, the date of the Addendum) or one year 
after such Shares were acquired pursuant to exercise of this option, the 
Participant shall notify the Company in writing of such disposition. 
 
7.       Provisions of the Plan. 
 
      This option is subject to the provisions of the Plan, a copy of which is 
furnished to the Participant with this option. 
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            IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this option to be 
executed under its corporate seal by its duly authorized officer. This option 
shall take effect as a sealed instrument. 
 
                                            AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 
 
 
Dated:  May 15, 2003                            /s/ George H. Conrades 
                                            ------------------------------------ 
                                            Signature 
                                            George H. Conrades 
                                            Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
 
                           PARTICIPANT'S ACCEPTANCE 
 
      The undersigned hereby accepts the foregoing option and agrees to the 
terms and conditions thereof. The undersigned hereby acknowledges receipt of a 
copy of the Company's Second Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Incentive Plan. 
 
                                            PARTICIPANT: 
 
                                              /s/ Michael Ruffolo 
                                            ------------------------------------ 
                                            Signature 
                                            Name:   Michael Ruffolo 
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                                   SCHEDULE A 
 
Number of shares as to which this option qualifies as an incentive stock option 
on the Grant Date: 
 
107,816 
 
Number of shares as to which this option is a non-qualified stock option on the 
Grant Date: 
 
467,184 
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                                  EXHIBIT 10.27 
 
                            AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 
 
                        Incentive Stock Option Agreement 
                     Granted Under 1998 Stock Incentive Plan 
 
1.       Grant of Option. 
 
         This Incentive Stock Option Agreement (this "Agreement") evidences the 
grant by Akamai Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), on 
May 15, 2003 (the "Grant Date") to Christopher Schoettle, an employee of the 
Company (the "Participant"), of an option to purchase, in whole or in part, on 
the terms provided herein and in the Company's Second Amended and Restated 1998 
Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), a total of 400,000 shares (the "Shares") of 
common stock, $0.01 par value per share, of the Company ("Common Stock") at 
$3.71 per Share. Unless earlier terminated, this option shall expire on May 14, 
2013 (the "Final Exercise Date"). 
 
         It is intended that the option evidenced by this agreement shall, to 
the extent it so qualifies, be an incentive stock option as defined in Section 
422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and any regulations 
promulgated there under (the "Code"). Schedule A hereto sets forth the number of 
shares with respect to which this option qualifies as an incentive stock option 
as of the date of grant. To the extent that the option does not on the date of 
grant, or hereafter ceases to, qualify as an incentive stock option, it shall be 
a non-qualified stock option. Except as otherwise indicated by the context, the 
term "Participant", as used in this option, shall be deemed to include any 
person who acquires the right to exercise this option validly under its terms. 
 
2.       Vesting Schedule. 
 
      (a)   General. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this 
            Agreement, including the accelerated vesting provisions set forth in 
            Section 2(b) below, this option will become exercisable ("vest") as 
            to 25% of the original number of Shares on the Grant Date and as to 
            an additional 6.25% of the original number of Shares at the end of 
            each successive full three-month period following the Grant Date 
            until the third anniversary of the Grant Date. For purposes of this 
            Section 2(a) the Vesting Start Date shall be May 15, 2003. 
 
      (b)   Accelerated Vesting upon Certain Corporate Milestones. In addition 
            to the scheduled vesting reflected in Section 2(a), this option 
            shall become vested as to an additional 47,916 shares, as of the 
            last day of each of the first three fiscal quarters during which the 
            Company has Revenue (as defined below) of at least 
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            $50,000,000 and a Gross Profit Percentage (as defined below) of at 
            least sixty-five percent (65%). 
 
      (c)   When used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the 
            meanings provided: 
 
            (i) "Revenue" shall mean, for so long as the Company is required to 
            make periodic reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
            amended (the "Exchange Act"), Total Revenue as reported in the 
            Company's consolidated financial statements filed with the 
            Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K or Form 10-Q 
            ("Public Company Financial Statements"). If, at any time, the 
            Company is not required to make periodic reports under the Exchange 
            Act, "Revenue" shall mean Total Revenue as set forth on regularly 
            prepared quarterly financial statements prepared by management 
            ("Private Company Financial Statements"). 
 
            (ii) "Gross Profit Percentage" for a calendar quarter means a 
            fraction, expressed as a percentage, the numerator of which is 
            Revenue for such fiscal quarter minus Cost of Service (or equivalent 
            measure) for such fiscal quarter, as reported in the Public Company 
            Financial Statements or Private Company Financial Statements, as 
            applicable at such time, and the denominator of which is the Revenue 
            for such fiscal quarter. 
 
      For purposes of the foregoing definitions in clauses (i) and (ii), 
      "Company" shall mean Akamai Technologies, Inc, and its wholly-owned 
      subsidiaries. 
 
      (d) The right of exercise shall be cumulative so that to the extent the 
option is not exercised in any period to the maximum extent permissible it shall 
continue to be exercisable, in whole or in part, with respect to all shares for 
which it is vested until the earlier of the Final Exercise Date or the 
termination of this option under Section 3 hereof or the Plan. 
 
      (e) Change in Control. Upon a Change in Control Event (as defined in the 
Plan), the number of Shares as to which this option has vested shall be 
calculated pursuant to Section 2(a) as though the Grant Date were the date that 
is one year prior to the Grant Date. 
 
 
3.       Exercise of Option. 
 
      Form of Exercise. In order to exercise this option, the Participant shall 
notify the Company's third-party stock option plan administrator, Charles Schwab 
& Co., or any successor appointed by the Company (the "Plan Administrator"), of 
the Participant's intent to exercise this option, and shall follow the 
procedures established by the Plan Administrator for exercising 
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stock options under the Plan and provide payment in full in the manner provided 
in the Plan. The Participant may purchase less than the number of shares covered 
hereby, provided that no partial exercise of this option may be for any 
fractional share. 
 
      (b) Continuous Relationship with the Company Required. Except as otherwise 
provided in this Section 3, this option may not be exercised unless the 
Participant, at the time he or she exercises this option, is, and has been at 
all times since the Grant Date, an employee, officer or director of, or 
consultant or advisor to, the Company or any parent or subsidiary of the Company 
as defined in Section 424(e) or (f) of the Code (an "Eligible Participant"). 
 
      (c) Termination of Relationship with the Company. If the Participant 
ceases to be an Eligible Participant for any reason, then, except as provided in 
paragraphs (d) and (e) below, the right to exercise this option shall terminate 
three months after such cessation (but in no event after the Final Exercise 
Date), provided that (i) this option shall be exercisable only to the extent 
that the Participant was entitled to exercise this option on the date of such 
cessation, and (ii) to the extent that the option or any portion thereof is 
exercised at any time later than three months after the date that the 
Participant ceases to be an employee of the Company or any parent or subsidiary 
of the Company as defined in Section 424(e) or (f) of the Code, the option shall 
be a non-qualified stock option. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the 
Participant, prior to the Final Exercise Date, violates the non-competition or 
confidentiality provisions of any employment contract, confidentiality and 
nondisclosure agreement or other agreement between the Participant and the 
Company, the right to exercise this option shall terminate immediately upon such 
violation. 
 
      (d) Exercise Period Upon Death or Disability. If the Participant dies or 
becomes disabled (within the meaning of Section 22(e)(3) of the Code) prior to 
the Final Exercise Date while he or she is an Eligible Participant and the 
Company has not terminated such relationship for "cause" as specified in 
paragraph (e) below, this option shall be exercisable, within the period of one 
year following the date of death or disability of the Participant by the 
Participant, provided that (i) this option shall be exercisable only to the 
extent that this option was exercisable by the Participant on the date of his or 
her death or disability, (ii) this option shall not be exercisable after the 
Final Exercise Date, and (iii) to the extent that the option or any portion 
thereof is exercised at any time later than one year after the Participant's 
termination as an employee of the Company or any parent or subsidiary of the 
Company (as defined in Section 424(e) or (f) of the Code) by reason of his or 
her disability (as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code), the option shall be 
a non-qualified stock option. 
 
      (e) Discharge for Cause. If the Participant, prior to the Final Exercise 
Date, is discharged by the Company for "cause" (as defined below), the right to 
exercise this option shall terminate immediately upon the effective date of such 
discharge. "Cause" shall mean willful misconduct by the Participant or willful 
failure by the Participant to perform his or her responsibilities to the Company 
(including, without limitation, breach by the Participant of any 
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provision of any employment, consulting, advisory, nondisclosure, 
non-competition or other similar agreement between the Participant and the 
Company), as determined by the Company, which determination shall be conclusive. 
The Participant shall be considered to have been discharged for "cause" if the 
Company determines, prior to or simultaneously with the Participant's 
resignation, that discharge for cause was warranted. 
 
      (f) Discharge for Reasons Other Than Cause. If the Participant, prior to 
the Final Exercise Date, is discharged by the Company for a reason other than 
"cause" (as defined above), then 100% of all Shares shall be deemed vested as of 
the termination date. The period of time for exercise of vested options under 
this paragraph (f) shall be as set forth in paragraph (c) above. 
 
4.       Withholding. 
 
      No Shares will be issued pursuant to the exercise of this option unless 
and until the Participant pays to the Company, or makes provision satisfactory 
to the Company for payment of, any federal, state or local withholding taxes 
required by law to be withheld in respect of this option. 
 
5.       Nontransferability of Option. 
 
      This option may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise 
encumbered by the Participant, either voluntarily or by operation of law, except 
by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and, during the lifetime of the 
Participant, this option shall be exercisable only by the Participant. 
 
6.       Disqualifying Disposition. 
 
      If the Participant disposes of Shares acquired upon exercise of this 
option within two years from the Grant Date (or, in the case of Shares acquired 
upon exercise of an Additional Grant, the date of the Addendum) or one year 
after such Shares were acquired pursuant to exercise of this option, the 
Participant shall notify the Company in writing of such disposition. 
 
7.       Provisions of the Plan. 
 
      This option is subject to the provisions of the Plan, a copy of which is 
furnished to the Participant with this option. 
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            IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this option to be 
executed under its corporate seal by its duly authorized officer. This option 
shall take effect as a sealed instrument. 
 
                                            AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 
 
 
Dated:  May 15, 2003                          /s/ George H. Conrades 
                                            ------------------------------------ 
                                            Signature 
                                            George H. Conrades 
                                            Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
 
                           PARTICIPANT'S ACCEPTANCE 
 
         The undersigned hereby accepts the foregoing option and agrees to the 
terms and conditions thereof. The undersigned hereby acknowledges receipt of a 
copy of the Company's Second Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Incentive Plan. 
 
                                            PARTICIPANT: 
 
                                              /s/ Chris Schoettle 
                                            ------------------------------------ 
                                            Signature 
                                            Name:   Christopher Schoettle 
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                                   SCHEDULE A 
 
Number of shares as to which this option qualifies as an incentive stock option 
on the Grant Date: 
 
107,816 
 
Number of shares as to which this option is a non-qualified stock option on the 
Grant Date: 
 
292,184 
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                                  EXHIBIT 31.1 
 
                    CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 
I, George Conrades, certify that: 
 
1.    I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Akamai Technologies, 
      Inc.; 
 
2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement 
      of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
      statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 
      were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
      report; 
 
3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial 
      information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
      respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of 
      the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 
 
4.    The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for 
      establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
      defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant 
      and have: 
 
      a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such 
            disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
            supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the 
            registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known 
            to us by others within those entities, particularly during the 
            period in which this report is being prepared; 
 
      b)    [Paragraph omitted in accordance with SEC transition instructions 
            contained in SEC Release 34-47986] 
 
      c)    Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls 
            and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
            the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of 
            the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
            evaluation; and 
 
      d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal 
            control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
            registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth 
            fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
            affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
            registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 
 
5.    The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on 
      our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 
      to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's 
      board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 
 
      a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design 
            or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
            reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to 
            record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 
 
      b)    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or 
            other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
            internal control over financial reporting. 
 
 
Date:    August 14, 2003                        /s/ George H. Conrades 
                                     ------------------------------------------- 
                                     George H. Conrades, Chief Executive Officer 
 
 



 
                                  EXHIBIT 31.2 
 
                    CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
I, Robert Cobuzzi, certify that: 
 
1.    I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Akamai Technologies, 
      Inc.; 
 
2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement 
      of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
      statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 
      were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
      report; 
 
3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial 
      information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
      respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of 
      the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 
 
4.    The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for 
      establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
      defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant 
      and have: 
 
      a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such 
            disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
            supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the 
            registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known 
            to us by others within those entities, particularly during the 
            period in which this report is being prepared; 
 
      b)    [Paragraph omitted in accordance with SEC transition instructions 
            contained in SEC Release 34-47986] 
 
      c)    Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls 
            and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
            the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of 
            the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
            evaluation; and 
 
      d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal 
            control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
            registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth 
            fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
            affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
            registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 
 
5.    The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based 
      on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
      reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the 
      registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
      functions): 
 
      a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design 
            or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
            reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to 
            record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 
 
      b)    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or 
            other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
            internal control over financial reporting. 
 
 
Date:    August 14, 2003                           /s/ Robert Cobuzzi 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                         Robert Cobuzzi, Chief Financial Officer 
 
 



 
                                  EXHIBIT 32.1 
 
                CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
 
                             AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
 
                  SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
      In connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Akamai 
Technologies, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended March 31, 2003 as filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), 
the undersigned, George H. Conrades, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, 
hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that: 
 
      (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
      (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all 
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company. 
 
                                              /s/ George H. Conrades 
                                            ------------------------------------ 
Dated:   August 14, 2003                    George H. Conrades 
                                            Chief Executive Officer 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been 
provided to Akamai Technologies, In. and will be retained by Akamai 
Technologies, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or 
its staff upon request. 
 



 
                                  EXHIBIT 32.2 
 
                CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
 
                             AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
 
                  SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
      In connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Akamai 
Technologies, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended September 30, 2002 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the 
"Report"), the undersigned, Robert Cobuzzi, Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that: 
 
      (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
      (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all 
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company. 
 
                                              /s/ Robert Cobuzzi 
                                            ------------------------------------ 
Dated:   August 14, 2003                    Robert Cobuzzi 
                                            Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been 
provided to Akamai Technologies, In. and will be retained by Akamai 
Technologies, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or 
its staff upon request. 
 


